

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Colchicine for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events (Protocol)

Ebrahimi F, Hirt J, Schönenberger C, Ewald H, Briel M, Janiaud P, Hemkens LG

Ebrahimi F, Hirt J, Schönenberger C, Ewald H, Briel M, Janiaud P, Hemkens LG. Colchicine for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2023, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD014808. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD014808.

www.cochranelibrary.com



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
BACKGROUND	2
OBJECTIVES	3
METHODS	3
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	6
REFERENCES	7
APPENDICES	9
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	11
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	11
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	12



[Intervention Protocol]

Colchicine for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events

Fahim Ebrahimi^{1,2}, Julian Hirt^{3,4,5,6}, Christof Schönenberger^{7,8}, Hannah Ewald⁹, Matthias Briel^{7,8}, Perrine Janiaud^{3,4}, Lars G Hemkens^{3,4,10,11}

¹University Center for Gastrointestinal and Liver Diseases, University Hospital Basel, Basel, Switzerland. ²Department of Medical Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden. ³Department of Clinical Research, University Hospital Basel, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland. ⁴Pragmatic Evidence Lab, Research Center for Clinical Neuroimmunology and Neuroscience Basel (RC2NB), University Hospital Basel and University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland. ⁵Institute of Nursing Science, Department of Health, Eastern Switzerland University of Applied Sciences, St Gallen, Switzerland. ⁶International Graduate Academy, Institute of Health and Nursing Science, Medical Faculty, Martin Luther University Halle-Wittenberg, Halle (Saale), Germany. ⁷CLEAR Methods Center, Division of Clinical Epidemiology, Department of Clinical Research, University Hospital Basel, Basel, Switzerland. ⁸University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland. ⁹University Medical Library, University of Basel, Basel, Switzerland. ¹⁰Meta-Research Innovation Center at Stanford (METRICS), Stanford University, Stanford, CA, USA. ¹¹Meta-Research Innovation Center Berlin (METRIC-B), Berlin Institute of Health, Berlin, Germany

Contact: Lars G Hemkens, lars.hemkens@usb.ch.

Editorial group: Cochrane Heart Group. Publication status and date: New, published in Issue 8, 2023.

Citation: Ebrahimi F, Hirt J, Schönenberger C, Ewald H, Briel M, Janiaud P, Hemkens LG. Colchicine for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events (Protocol). *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2023, Issue 8. Art. No.: CD014808. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD014808.

Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

Objectives

This is a protocol for a Cochrane Review (intervention). The objectives are as follows:

To evaluate the benefits and harms of low-dose colchicine in the prevention of cardiovascular events in adults with a history of stable CVD or following myocardial infarction or stroke.



BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of death and disease burden worldwide (WHO 2016), and despite improvements in primary prevention (to prevent the onset of the disease) and secondary prevention (to reduce the risk of occurrence of a CVD event in individuals with existing CVD), its burden continues to increase globally (Roth 2020; WHO CVDs 2021). The main contributing factor to the progression of CVD is atherosclerosis, that is, the deposition of cholesterol deposits known as 'plaques' inside blood vessels, that build up and impede blood flow (Libby 2013; Shah 2003; Shah 2009). The standard of care for decreasing the occurrence of cardiovascular events includes intensive modification of risk factors, such as blood pressure and cholesterol levels. However, recently, the general understanding about how atherosclerosis progresses has shifted towards the inflammatory hypothesis (Blankenberg 2006; Boland 2021; DeWeerdt 2021; Moriya 2019). It has been shown that chronic low-grade inflammation is the key contributing factor in both the initiation and the progression of atherosclerotic lesions (Hansson 2005; Libby 2009). Research shows that high levels of inflammatory cytokines occur in atherosclerotic plaques (Whayne 2020), inflammatory cells concentrate at ruptured plaques (Carr 1997; Libby 2013), and high levels of inflammatory markers (Creactive protein, CRP) in the blood are associated with a higher risk of coronary events (The Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration 2010). As a consequence, several anti-inflammatory drugs have been proposed to target inflammation in CVD.

Description of the intervention

Colchicine is an ancient drug with strong anti-inflammatory effects (Niel 2006). For centuries, acute gout was treated with extracts from autumn crocus (Colchicum autumnale) (Cocco 2010; Slobodnick 2015), until the active pharmaceutical ingredient (the lipophilic alkaloid, colchicine) was identified in the 18th century (Slobodnick 2015; Slobodnick 2018). Colchicine blocks cell division, specifically mitosis, by binding to tubulin and preventing the elongation of microtubules. At lower concentrations it leads to microtubule arrest, and at higher concentrations it leads to microtubule depolymerization (Dalbeth 2014). Although the exact mechanisms by which colchicine acts on the immune system are not fully understood, it appears to exert anti-inflammatory effects through multiple modes of action, which, together, result in altered leukocyte adhesion and migration, as well as cytokine production and secretion (Leung 2015; Slobodnick 2018). In addition to gout, colchicine is used to treat numerous systemic inflammatory diseases, including familial Mediterranean fever, Behçet's disease, primary biliary cirrhosis, and pericarditis (Cocco 2010; Imazio 2020; Slobodnick 2018). In clinical practice it is important to note that the therapeutic window of colchicine is relatively narrow and inter-individual pharmacokinetic variability is high (D'Amario 2021; Leung 2015; Niel 2006). At low doses the most commonly reported adverse effects are usually mild and transient gastrointestinal symptoms, such as abdominal pain, diarrhoea or nausea.

Chronic low-grade inflammations with elevated inflammatory biomarkers such as high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) have been shown to be predictive of future major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE). Colchicine has been shown to reduce systemic and intracoronary concentrations of several proinflammatory mediators significantly (Kurup 2021; Masding 2009; Tardif 2021; Whayne 2020). A number of trials in the field of cardiovascular prevention and treatment have used low-dose colchicine given over six months in doses of 0.5 mg/day (Hemkens 2016), and 1 mg/day (Imazio 2020), in people with established cardiovascular disease, i.e. coronary artery disease or recent myocardial infarction.

How the intervention might work

Treatment with colchicine is associated with lower intracoronary levels of several pro-inflammatory mediators in the context of both acute and chronic coronary syndromes (Nidorf 2007; Pello 2021; Tucker 2019). It inhibits the major inflammatory pathways that lead to the development or destabilization of atherosclerotic plaques. The anti-inflammatory effects of colchicine are expected to reduce the incidence of plaque ruptures and would thus reduce rates of cardiovascular events in people at high cardiovascular risk (Samuel 2020).

In animals, colchicine seems to prevent adverse cardiac remodelling after myocardial infarction, and reduces the infarct size and area of post-infarct fibrosis (Akodad 2017; Fujisue 2017). In vitro studies have shown an association with reduced platelet aggregation, which would be highly beneficial in the context of CVD (Cimmino 2018). During an acute coronary syndrome event, there is an exacerbation of inflammatory processes, which is why an effective reduction of inflammation might provide benefits especially in the aftermath of an acute myocardial infarction. In recent years, several studies have attempted to confirm whether low-dose colchicine reduces rates of adverse cardiovascular events in people with stable coronary artery disease or recent myocardial infarction (Pello 2021; Samuel 2021). Colchicine has several advantages over the anti-inflammatory drugs that have been tested to date, in that it is inexpensive and widely used for several medical conditions, and shows protective effects against cardiovascular diseases in patients with gout (Ma 2021).

Why it is important to do this review

In 2016, the first Cochrane Review on this topic summarized the available evidence for both primary and secondary CVD prevention. It showed that colchicine may provide substantial benefit and reduce the risk of myocardial infarction in secondary CVD prevention, as indicated by a statistically significant dose effect of colchicine on all-cause mortality in favour of lower-dose treatment (i.e. 0.5 mg to 1 mg; P = 0.03) (Hemkens 2016). The review also concluded that more evidence from large-scale randomized trials was needed. Since then, several other large randomized trials have provided new evidence, and the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) recently approved low-dose colchicine (0.5 mg per day) as the first anti-inflammatory treatment for secondary prevention of CVD to reduce the risk of myocardial infarction (MI), stroke, coronary revascularization, and cardiovascular death in adult patients with established atherosclerotic disease or with multiple risk factors for cardiovascular disease (FDA Approval 2023).

Recent non-Cochrane meta-analyses have attempted to pool the data and to provide a thorough overview of the effects of colchicine (Kassab 2021; Xia 2021; Xiang 2021), but its role in the treatment of CVD is still not established, and current guidelines state that low-dose colchicine should only be considered in secondary prevention

Colchicine for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events (Protocol) Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

of CVD in patients with inadequately controlled risk factors or recurrent CVD events, despite optimal therapy (Visseren 2021).

It is now time to update the original Cochrane Review (Hemkens 2016). A decision has been made to split it into two separate reviews; this one addressing secondary prevention, and another that is still in development addressing primary prevention (Martí-Carvajal 2022). This review will focus on the secondary prevention of CVD and follows the methodology of the original review (Hemkens 2016), and its protocol (Hemkens 2014), closely.

OBJECTIVES

To evaluate the benefits and harms of low-dose colchicine in the prevention of cardiovascular events in adults with a history of stable CVD or following myocardial infarction or stroke.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We will include individually randomized controlled trials (RCTs). We will include studies reported as full-text, those published as abstracts only, and unpublished data. We will exclude clusterrandomized trials, cross-over randomized trials, 'N-of-1' trials (multiple cross-over trials, usually randomized and often blinded, conducted in a single patient) (Shamseer 2015), trials described as 'pseudo-randomized' or 'quasi-randomized' (sequence of numbers that appears to be statistically random, despite having been produced by a deterministic process), and non-randomized (observational) research.

Types of participants

We will include trials in people of any age with any condition or disease but with a history of stable CVD, or following myocardial infarction or stroke. We will only consider studies where at least 90% of participants had a history of stable CVD, or had experienced myocardial infarction or stroke, or studies that reported subgroups that included 90% of participants with these characteristics.

Types of interventions

We will include trials that compare treatment with colchicine for any condition or any disease on a continuous basis (treatment over at least six months at any dose and with any type of application) with non-active treatment (e.g. placebo), or with no treatment. Trials with active comparators will be excluded. We will accept any co-interventions, provided they are identical in the study groups compared and not part of the treatment that is randomized.

Types of outcome measures

Colchicine is typically intended to be used as lifelong treatment for a chronic condition. Thus, we require a sufficiently long treatment duration to allow valid assessment of its long-term benefits and harms. Therefore, we will only use data obtained a minimum of six months after randomization, and the longest available follow-up for any of the outcomes.

If a published report does not appear to report one of our outcomes of interest, we will access the trial protocol and contact the trial authors to ascertain whether the outcomes were measured, but not reported. This will only be done if the trial fulfils criteria for follow-up and other inclusion criteria. Studies where no relevant outcomes are reported and where we receive no information from the trialists will be placed in the awaiting classification section. We will not request data from trialists for subgroup analyses we intend to perform, or for data from subgroups they may have included in eligible studies.

For all outcomes, we will use the number of participants with at least one event (except for quality of life). If the number of participants with at least one event is not reported, we will describe this issue, but we will not use the data for analyses.

Primary outcomes

- 1. All-cause mortality
- 2. Myocardial infarction
- 3. Serious adverse events

Following the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) definition, we will consider an adverse event or suspected adverse reaction to be serious if it results in any of the following outcomes:

- 1. death;
- 2. a life-threatening adverse event;
- 3. inpatient hospitalization or prolongation of existing hospitalization;
- 4. a persistent or significant incapacity or substantial disruption of the ability to conduct normal life functions; or
- 5. a congenital anomaly or birth defect.

Important medical events that may not result in death, be life-threatening, or require hospitalization may be considered serious when, based upon appropriate medical judgement, they may jeopardize the patient and may require medical or surgical intervention to prevent one of the outcomes listed in this definition. Examples of such medical events include:

- 1. allergic bronchospasm requiring intensive treatment in an emergency room or at home;
- 2. blood dyscrasias;
- 3. convulsions that do not result in inpatient hospitalization; or
- 4. the development of drug dependency or drug abuse (FDA 2019).

If adverse events are reported as 'serious' but the definition is unclear, and if this cannot be clarified with the authors, or the definition does not agree with the FDA version (FDA 2019), we will consider these outcomes 'serious' for the main analysis, but will exclude such studies in a sensitivity analysis.

We will not consider composites of the three primary outcomes listed above.

Secondary outcomes

- 1. Cardiovascular mortality
- 2. Stroke
- 3. All-cause hospitalizations
- 4. Coronary revascularization (percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI)/angioplasty or coronary artery bypass graft (CABG))
- 5. Quality of life



ochrane

6. Gastrointestinal adverse events (i.e. diarrhoea, nausea, abdominal pain, or vomiting)

We will not consider composites of the six secondary outcomes listed above.

For quality of life we will use only data reported using validated scales (such as SF-36) (Ware 1992). Should data for quality of life be reported from non-validated scales, or if cost data are available in any eligible study, we will comment on these in a narrative form. We will prefer a global quality-of-life scale (e.g. SF-36) over disease-specific scales.

We will consider gastrointestinal adverse events that are specifically reported as 'diarrhoea', 'nausea', 'abdominal pain', or 'vomiting' (Hemkens 2016).

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

We will identify trials through systematic searches of the following bibliographic databases:

- 1. Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) in the Cochrane Library (latest issue);
- 2. MEDLINE (Ovid) (1 January 2015 onwards);
- 3. Embase (Elsevier) (1 January 2015 onwards).

We will use the search strategies that were developed in the original review (Hemkens 2016). The Embase strategy was originally run on the Ovid platform, but will be adapted for the Elsevier platform, since our institutional licences have been changed (Appendix 1: Appendix 2; Appendix 3). As the searches in Hemkens 2016 were conducted on 22 January and 30 January 2015, we will search all databases from 1 January 2015 to the present, and we will impose no restrictions on language of publication or publication status.

For ongoing or unpublished trials, we will not conduct a separate search in ClinicalTrials.gov (www.ClinicalTrials.gov) and the WHO International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) Search Portal (apps.who.int/trialsearch), since the registry entries are collected for inclusion in CENTRAL on a daily or weekly basis (Cochrane Library 2023).

Searching other resources

We will check reference lists of all included studies, and any relevant systematic reviews that are identified, for additional references to trials. We will also examine any relevant retraction statements and errata for included studies.

We will investigate published FDA approval documents for colchicine in cardiovascular disease in the drugs@FDA database, considering the framework by Ladanie 2018.

We will not perform a separate search for adverse effects of interventions used for the prevention of cardiovascular events. Thus, we will only consider the adverse effects described in the included studies.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

Two review authors (two from FE, JH, CS, PJ, MB) will independently screen titles and abstracts for inclusion of all the potential studies we identify as a result of the search and code them as 'retrieve' (eligible or potentially eligible or unclear) or 'do not retrieve'. If there are any disagreements, a third author will be asked to arbitrate (LGH or MB). We will retrieve full-text publications of all we mark as 'retrieve', and two review authors (two from FE, JH, CS, PJ, MB) will independently screen the full-texts and identify studies for inclusion, and record reasons for exclusion of ineligible studies. We will consult with a third person (LGH or MB). In case of any uncertainties regarding the eligibility of a study, we will contact the authors to confirm eligibility.

We will identify and exclude duplicates and collate multiple reports of the same study, so that each study rather than each report is the unit of interest in the review. We will record the selection process in sufficient detail to complete a PRISMA flow diagram and 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table (Page 2021).

Data extraction and management

We will use a data collection form for study characteristics and outcome data which has been piloted on at least one study in the review. One review author (from FE, JH, CS, PJ, MB) will extract study characteristics from included studies and a second author will verify the extractions. We will extract the following study characteristics.

- 1. **Methods:** study design, total duration of study, number of study centres and location, study setting, and date of study
- 2. **Participants:** number randomized, number lost to followup/withdrawn, number analyzed (per outcome for outcomes relevant to this review), mean or median age, age range, sex or gender (as reported), condition and severity of cardiovascular disease and diagnostic criteria (at baseline or time point of randomization; as reported), inclusion criteria, and exclusion criteria
- 3. **Interventions:** colchicine dose, comparison, concomitant medications and therapy, and prohibited medications and therapy
- 4. **Outcomes:** primary and secondary outcomes and time points reported
- 5. **Notes:** funding for trial, and notable conflicts of interest of trial authors

Two review authors (from FE, JH, CS, PJ, MB, LGH) will independently extract outcome data from the included studies. We will resolve disagreements by consensus or by involving a third person (LGH or MB). One review author (FE) will transfer data into Review Manager Web (RevMan Web 2023). We will double-check that data have been entered correctly by comparing the data presented in the review with the data extraction forms. A second review author (LGH) will spot-check study characteristics for accuracy against trial reports.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors (from FE, JH, CS, PJ, MB, LGH) will independently assess risk of bias on an intention-to-treat effect

Colchicine for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events (Protocol)

Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



basis (this resembles the clinical question of whether treatment with colchicine should be started with the goal of adhering to it). The risk of bias assessment relates to the outcomes as analysed (i.e. regarding the time point of assessment). We will use the new version of the Cochrane risk of bias tool (RoB 2) (Higgins 2023a), as outlined in the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Higgins 2023b). We will resolve any disagreements by discussion or by involving another author (from FE, JH, CS, PJ, MB, or LGH). We will assess the risk of bias of a specific outcome of a trial according to the following domains:

- 1. bias arising from the randomization process;
- 2. bias due to deviations from intended interventions;
- 3. bias due to missing outcome data;
- 4. bias in measurement of the outcome; and
- 5. bias in selection of the reported result.

We will assess the risk of bias for the outcomes that will be included in our summary of findings table.

We will use the signalling questions in the RoB 2 tool and rate each domain as having 'low risk of bias', 'some concerns' or 'high risk of bias'. We will summarize the risk of bias judgements across different studies for each of the domains listed for each outcome. The overall risk of bias for the result will be the least favourable assessment across the domains of bias.

When considering treatment effects, we will take into account the risk of bias for the studies that contribute to that outcome.

Risk of bias assessment will be managed using the RoB 2 Excel tool (Higgins 2019). Detailed RoB 2 data will be provided as supplementary data.

Measures of treatment effect

We will analyze dichotomous data as risk ratios and absolute risk differences with 95% confidence intervals. For dichotomous data, we will present relative risks and absolute risk differences with 95% confidence intervals. We will analyze continuous data as mean differences or standardized mean differences depending on whether outcomes are assessed by means of the same measurement scales, or not. In our interpretation, we will consider effects which are larger than 0.2 (Hedges g) as clinically relevant (IQWiG 2020), unless we identify established frameworks for minimal clinical important differences (MCID) with a different MCID.

We will undertake meta-analyses only where this is meaningful, that is, if the treatments, participants and the underlying clinical questions are similar enough for pooling to make sense.

Unit of analysis issues

We will include RCTs with parallel group design (unit of randomization will typically be the individual participant) and we do not anticipate any major unit of analysis issues. If a study includes multiple intervention groups, we will not include the same intervention group more than once in the meta-analyses. We will split groups with shared individuals into two groups to ensure having pair-wise independent comparisons (Higgins 2023b).

Dealing with missing data

We will contact investigators or study sponsors in order to verify key study characteristics and to obtain missing numerical outcome data where needed (e.g. when a study is identified as abstract only). Where this is not possible, and the missing data are thought to introduce serious risk of bias (e.g. because of a very high percentage of missing data, substantial differences in missing data; considering the framework described by Guyatt 2017), we will explore the impact of including such studies in the overall assessment of results by a sensitivity analysis.

Assessment of heterogeneity

We will inspect forest plots visually to consider the direction and magnitude of effects and the degree of overlap between confidence intervals. We will use the I² statistic to measure heterogeneity among the trials in each analysis, but acknowledge that there is substantial uncertainty in the value of I² when only a small number of studies is pooled. We will also consider the P value from the Chi² test.

Given the wide perspective of the review, with broad inclusion criteria and highly diverse fields of application of the intervention in various settings, we do not expect the true effects of the intervention to be homogeneous.

Assessment of reporting biases

If we are able to pool more than 10 trials, we will create and examine a funnel plot to explore possible small study biases for the primary outcomes.

Data synthesis

We will undertake meta-analyses only where this is meaningful, that is, if the treatments, participants and the underlying clinical question are similar enough for pooling to make sense. We will not exclude trials from meta-analysis on the basis of the risk of bias assessments.

We will use a random-effects model to synthesize the identified treatment effects, because we anticipate that the true effects of colchicine treatment will be very variable across included studies, especially given our broad inclusion criteria.

If we are unable to conduct a meta-analysis on an outcome, we will consider the Synthesis Without Meta-analysis (SWiM) guidelines (Campbell 2020).

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

We will conduct subgroup analyses that focus on people with previous myocardial infarction versus people without previous myocardial infarction but with established CVD.

We also plan to carry out additional subgroup analyses according to the following parameters:

- colchicine dose (≤ 1 mg/day versus > 1 mg/day);
- 2. type of condition for which colchicine was given.

We will assess the following outcomes in the additional subgroup analyses:

1. all-cause mortality;

Colchicine for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events (Protocol)

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb S}$ 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.



- 2. myocardial infarction;
- 3. serious adverse events;
- 4. stroke.

Subgroup analyses will only be conducted if there are at least three studies per subgroup category. We will use the formal test for subgroup differences in RevMan Web (Chi² test, P value) and base our interpretation on this.

Sensitivity analysis

We plan to carry out the following sensitivity analyses, to test whether key methodological factors or decisions have affected the main results:

- 1. including only studies with an overall low risk of bias (all outcomes);
- 2. including only studies with a definition of serious adverse events that clearly agrees with the FDA definition (FDA 2019) (for serious adverse events only).

When missing data are thought to have introduced serious bias, we will explore the impact of including such studies in the overall assessment of results by an additional sensitivity analysis.

Summary of findings and assessment of the certainty of the evidence

We will create a summary of findings table for colchicine versus no colchicine interventions as this is the only comparison we expect. We will use the following outcomes:

- 1. all-cause mortality;
- 2. myocardial infarction;
- 3. serious adverse events;
- 4. cardiovascular mortality;
- 5. stroke;
- 6. all-cause hospitalizations;
- 7. coronary revascularization.

We will use the five GRADE considerations (study limitations (risk of bias), consistency of effect, imprecision, indirectness, and publication bias) to assess the certainty of the evidence as it relates to the studies which contribute data to the meta-analyses for the prespecified outcomes. The overall RoB 2 judgement will be used to feed into the GRADE assessment. We will use methods

and recommendations described in Chapter 14 of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Schünemann 2023), and use GRADEpro software (GRADEpro GDT 2022). We will justify all decisions to downgrade the certainty of the evidence using footnotes, and we will make comments to aid the reader's understanding of the review.

Judgements about certainty of the evidence (very low, low, moderate, and high certainty) will be made by two review authors (two of FE, JH, PJ, MB or LGH) working independently, with disagreements resolved by discussion or involving a third author (MB or LGH). Judgements will be justified, documented and incorporated into the reporting of results for each outcome.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Cochrane Heart supported the authors in the development of this systematic review.

The following people conducted the editorial process for this protocol:

- Co-ordinating Editor/Sign-off Editor (final editorial decision): Professor Rui Providencia, Cochrane Heart, University College London;
- Managing Editors (selected peer reviewers, collated peer reviewer comments, provided editorial guidance to authors, edited the review): Ghazaleh Aali, Cochrane Heart, University College London, and Nicole Martin, Cochrane Heart, University College London;
- Copy Editor (copy-editing and production): Elizabeth Royle, Production Manager, Cochrane Central Production Service;
- Information Specialists: Dr Farhad Shokraneh, Cochrane Heart, University College London, and Charlene Bridges, Cochrane Heart, University College London.

The authors thank the contact editor Mahmood Ahmad, Department of Cardiology, Royal Free Hospital, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK, and the peer reviewer Arden Barry, The University of British Columbia, and consumer reviewer, Trevor Coons, FACHE. One additional peer reviewer wishes to remain anonymous.

This protocol is based on a previous Cochrane Review Hemkens 2016 and the corresponding protocol.



REFERENCES

Additional references

Akodad 2017

Akodad M, Fauconnier J, Sicard P, Huet F, Blandel F, Bourret A, et al. Interest of colchicine in the treatment of acute myocardial infarct responsible for heart failure in a mouse model. *International Journal of Cardiology* 2017;**240**:347-53.

Blankenberg 2006

Blankenberg S, Yusuf S. The inflammatory hypothesis. *Circulation* 2006;**114**(15):1557-60.

Boland 2021

Boland J, Long C. Update on the inflammatory hypothesis of coronary artery disease. *Current Cardiology Reports* 2021;**23**(2):6.

Campbell 2020

Campbell M, McKenzie JE, Sowden A, Katikireddi SV, Brennan SE, Ellis S, et al. Synthesis without meta-analysis (SWiM) in systematic reviews: reporting guideline. *BMJ* 2020;**368**:16890. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.16890]

Carr 1997

Carr SC, Farb A, Pearce WH, Virmani R, Yao JS. Activated inflammatory cells are associated with plaque rupture in carotid artery stenosis. *Surgery* 1997;**122**(4):757-64. [DOI: 10.1016/s0039-6060(97)90084-2]

Cimmino 2018

Cimmino G, Tarallo R, Conte S, Morello A, Pellegrino G, Loffredo FS, et al. Colchicine reduces platelet aggregation by modulating cytoskeleton rearrangement via inhibition of cofilin and LIM domain kinase 1. *Vascular Pharmacology* 2018;**111**:62-70. [DOI: 10.1016/j.vph.2018.09.004]

Cocco 2010

Cocco G, Chu DC, Pandolfi S. Colchicine in clinical medicine. A guide for internists. *European Journal of Internal Medicine* 2010;**21**(6):503-8. [DOI: 10.1016/j.ejim.2010.09.010]

Cochrane Library 2023

Cochrane Library. How CENTRAL is created; June 2023. Available at www.cochranelibrary.com/central/central-creation.

Dalbeth 2014

Dalbeth N, Lauterio TJ, Wolfe HR. Mechanism of action of colchicine in the treatment of gout. *Clinical Therapeutics* 2014;**36**(10):1465-79.

DeWeerdt 2021

DeWeerdt S. Inflammation in heart disease: do researchers know enough? *Nature* 2021;**594**(7862):S8-S9.

D'Amario 2021

D'Amario D, Cappetta D, Cappannoli L, Princi G, Migliaro S, Diana G, et al. Colchicine in ischemic heart disease: the good, the bad and the ugly. *Clinical Research in Cardiology* 2021;**110**(10):1531-42.

FDA 2019

US Food and Drug Administration. Title 21, Volume 5. Part 312 Subpart B - Investigational new drug application (IND). Sec. 312.32 IND safety reporting. Available at www.accessdata.fda.gov/ scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfcfr/CFRSearch.cfm? CFRPart=312&showFR=1&subpartNode=21:5.0.1.1.3.2.

FDA Approval 2023

US Food and Drug Administration. NDA approval (215727); June 2023. Available at www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/ appletter/2023/2157270rig1s000ltr.pdf.

Fujisue 2017

Fujisue K, Sugamura K, Kurokawa H, Matsubara J, Ishii M, Izumiya Y, et al. Colchicine improves survival, left ventricular remodeling, and chronic cardiac function after acute myocardial infarction. *Circulation Journal* 2017;**81**(8):1174-82.

GRADEpro GDT 2022 [Computer program]

GRADEpro GDT. Version accessed prior to 21 July 2023. Hamilton (ON): McMaster University (developed by Evidence Prime), 2022. Available at gradepro.org.

Guyatt 2017

Guyatt GH, Ebrahim S, Alonso-Coello P, Johnston BC, Mathioudakis AG, Briel M, et al. GRADE guidelines 17: assessing the risk of bias associated with missing participant outcome data in a body of evidence. *Journal Clinical Epidemiology* 2017;**87**:14-22.

Hansson 2005

Hansson GK. Mechanisms of disease: inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2005;**352**(16):1685-95.

Higgins 2019

Higgins JP, Savovic J, Page MJ, Sterne JA. Excel tool to implement RoB 2; August 2019. Available at drive.google.com/uc?export=download&id=1malyRF_b-DgvAGHssrdt4N9R7Yhljmt0.

Higgins 2023a

Higgins JP, Savović J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Sterne JA. Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in a randomized trial. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA (editors). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.4 (updated August 2023). Cochrane, 2023. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Higgins 2023b

Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.4 (updated August 2023). Cochrane, 2023. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Imazio 2020

Imazio M, Andreis A, Brucato A, Adler Y, De Ferrari GM. Colchicine for acute and chronic coronary syndromes.



Heart 2020;**106**:heartjnl-2020-317108. [DOI: 10.1136/ heartjnl-2020-317108]

IQWiG 2020

IQWiG [Institut für Qualität und Wirtschaftlichkeit im Gesundheitswesen]. General Methods (Version 6.0) [Allgemeine Methoden (Version 6.0)]. Available at www.iqwig.de/methoden/ allgemeine-methoden_version-6-0.pdf. [WEB: https:// www.iqwig.de/methoden/general-methods_version-6-0.pdf]

Kassab 2021

Kassab K, Chuy KL, Vij A. Use of colchicine for secondary prevention of cardiovascular events: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2021;**77**(18 Suppl 1):24. [DOI: 10.1016/S0735-1097(21)01383-8]

Kurup 2021

Kurup R, Galougahi KK, Figtree G, Misra A, Patel S. The role of colchicine in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Heart Lung and Circulation* 2021;**30**(6):795-806.

Ladanie 2018

Ladanie A, Ewald H, Kasenda B, Hemkens LG. How to use FDA drug approval documents for evidence syntheses. *BMJ* 2018;**362**:k2815.

Leung 2015

Leung YY, Yao HL, Kraus VB. Colchicine - Update on mechanisms of action and therapeutic uses. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism* 2015;**45**(3):341-50. [DOI: 10.1016/ j.semarthrit.2015.06.013]

Libby 2009

Libby P, Ridker PM, Hansson GK. Inflammation in atherosclerosis. From pathophysiology to practice. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2009;**54**(23):2129-38.

Libby 2013

Libby P. Mechanisms of acute coronary syndromes and their implications for therapy. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2013;**368**(21):2004-13.

Ma 2021

Ma J, Chen X. Anti-inflammatory therapy for coronary atherosclerotic heart disease: unanswered questions behind existing successes. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine* 2021;**7**:415.

Martí-Carvajal 2022

Martí-Carvajal AJ, De Sanctis JB, Hidalgo R, Martí-Amarista CE, Alegría E, Correa-Pérez A, et al. Colchicine for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2022, Issue 6. Art. No: CD015003. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD015003]

Masding 2009

Masding A. An ancient remedy with a modern twist: colchicine in cardiovascular disease. Available at www.britishcardiovascularsociety.org/resources/editorials/ articles/ancient-remedy-modern-twist-colchicinecardiovascular-disease.

Moriya 2019

Moriya J. Critical roles of inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Anticoagulants and Bleeding* 2019;**73**(1):22-7.

Nidorf 2007

Nidorf M, Thompson PL. Effect of colchicine (0.5 mg twice daily) on high-sensitivity C-reactive protein independent of aspirin and atorvastatin in patients with stable coronary artery disease. *American Journal of Cardiology* 2007;**99**(6):805-7.

Niel 2006

Niel E, Scherrmann JM. Colchicine today. *Joint Bone Spine* 2006;**73**(6):672-8.

Page 2021

Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* 2021;**372**:n71. [DOI: 10.1136/bmj.n71]

Pello 2021

Pello LA, Blanco-Colio LM, Franco PJ, Tuñón J. Antiinflammatory drugs in patients with ischemic heart disease. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 2021;**10**(13):2835.

RevMan Web 2023 [Computer program]

Review Manager Web (RevMan Web). Version 5.6.0. The Cochrane Collaboration, 2023. Available at revman.cochrane.org.

Roth 2020

Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, Baddour LM, et al. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk factors, 1990–2019. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2020;**76**(25):2982-3021.

Samuel 2020

Samuel M, Waters DD. Will colchicine soon be part of primary and secondary cardiovascular prevention? *Canadian Journal of Cardiology* 2020;**36**(11):1697-9.

Samuel 2021

Samuel M, Tardif JD, Bouabdallaoui N, Khairy P, Dubé MP, Blondeau L, et al. Colchicine for secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Canadian Journal of Cardiology* 2021;**37**(5):776-85.

Schünemann 2023

Schünemann HJ, Higgins JP, Vist GE, Glasziou P, Akl EA, Skoetz N, et al. Chapter 14: Completing 'Summary of findings' tables and grading the certainty of the evidence. In: Higgins JP, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston MS, Li T, Page MJ, Welch VA editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.4 (updated August 2023). Cochrane, 2023. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Shah 2003

Shah PK. Mechanisms of plaque vulnerability and rupture. Journal of the American College of Cardiology 2003;**41**(4 Suppl):S15.



Shah 2009

Shah PK. Inflammation and plaque vulnerability. *Cardiovascular Drugs and Therapy* 2009;**23**(1):31-40. [DOI: 10.1007/s10557-008-6147-2]

Shamseer 2015

Shamseer L, Sampson M, Bukutu C, Schmid C H, Nikles J, Tate R, et al. CONSORT extension for reporting N-of-1 trials (CENT) 2015: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ* 2015;**350**:h1793.

Slobodnick 2015

Slobodnick A, Shah B, Pillinger MH, Krasnokutsky S. Colchicine: old and new. American Journal of Medicine 2015;**128**(5):461-70.

Slobodnick 2018

Slobodnick A, Shah B, Krasnokutsky S, Pillinger MH. Update on colchicine, 2017. *Rheumatology (Oxford)* 2018;**57**(Suppl 1):i4-i11.

Tardif 2021

Tardif JC, Marquis-Gravel G. Low-dose colchicine for the management of coronary artery disease. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2021;**78**(9):867-9.

The Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration 2010

The Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration. C-reactive protein concentration and risk of coronary heart disease, stroke, and mortality: an individual participant meta-analysis. *Lancet* 2010;**375**(9709):132-40. [DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)61717-7]

Tucker 2019

Tucker B, Kurup R, Barraclough J, Henriquez R, Cartland S, Arnott C, et al. Colchicine as a novel therapy for suppressing chemokine production in patients with an acute coronary syndrome: a pilot study. *Clinical Therapeutics* 2019;**41**(10):2172-81.

Visseren 2021

Visseren FL, Mach F, Smulders YM, Carballo D, Koskinas KC, Bäck M, et al. 2021 ESC Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. *European Heart Journal* 2021;**42**(34):3227-337.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. MEDLINE (Ovid) search strategy

- 1. exp Colchicine/
- 2. colcemid*.tw.
- 3. demecolcine.tw.
- 4. colchamine.tw.
- 5. lumicolchicine*.tw.
- 6. gamma-lumicolchicine*.tw.
- 7. beta-lumicolchicine.tw.
- 8. colchicin*.tw.
- 9. colchichine.tw.
- 10. aqua colchin.tw.
- 11. colchicum.tw.
- 12. colchily.tw.

Colchicine for the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events (Protocol) Copyright © 2023 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

Ware 1992

Ware JE Jr, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. *Medical Care* 1992;**30**(6):473-83.

Whayne 2020

Whayne TF Jr. Inflammation may be the future of cardiovascular risk reduction: does colchicine have a current indication? *American Journal of Cardiovascular Drugs* 2020;**21**(1):1-10. [DOI: 10.1007/s40256-020-00408-y]

WHO 2016

World Health Organization. The top 10 causes of death. Fact Sheet No. 310. World Health Organization 2016:1-5.

WHO CVDs 2021

World Health Organization. Cardiovascular diseases (CVDs); June 2021. Available at www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/cardiovascular-diseases-(cvds).

Xia 2021

Xia M, Yang X, Qian C. Meta-analysis evaluating the utility of colchicine in secondary prevention of coronary artery disease. *American Journal of Cardiology* 2021;**140**:33-8.

Xiang 2021

Xiang Z, Yang J, Yang J, Zhang J, Fan Z, Yang C, et al. Efficacy and safety of colchicine for secondary prevention of coronary heart disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Internal and Emergency Medicine* 2021;**16**(2):487-96.

References to other published versions of this review

Hemkens 2014

Hemkens LG, Gloy VL, Olu KK, Nordmann AJ, Briel M. Colchicine for prevention of cardiovascular events. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 3. Art. No: CD011047. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011047]

Hemkens 2016

Hemkens LG, Ewald H, Gloy VL, Arpagaus A, Olu KK, Nidorf M, et al. Colchicine for prevention of cardiovascular events. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2016, Issue 1. Art. No: CD011047. [DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011047.pub2]



13. colchimedio.tw. 14. colchiquim.tw. 15. colchisol.tw. 16. colchysat.tw. 17. colcine.tw. 18. colcrys.tw. 19. colgout.tw. 20. goutichine.tw. 21. goutnil.tw. 22. kolkicin.tw. 23. nsc 757.tw. 24. tolchicine.tw. 25. or/1-24 26. randomized controlled trial.pt. 27. controlled clinical trial.pt. 28. randomized.ab. 29. placebo.ab. 30. clinical trials as topic.sh. 31. randomly.ab. 32. trial.ti. 33. 26 or 27 or 28 or 29 or 30 or 31 or 32 34. exp animals/ not humans.sh. 35. 33 not 34 36.25 and 35 37. (trial* or random*).tw. 38. 33 or 37 39. 38 not 34 40. 25 and 39

Appendix 2. CENTRAL (Cochrane Library) search strategy

#1 MeSH descriptor: [Colchicine] explode all trees #2 colcemid* #3 demecolcine #4 colchamine #5 lumicolchicine* #6 gamma-lumicolchicine* #7 beta-lumicolchicine #8 colchicin* #9 colchichine #10 aqua next colchin #11 colchicum #12 colchily #13 colchimedio #14 colchiquim #15 colchisol #16 colchysat #17 colcine #18 colcrys #19 colgout #20 goutichine #21 goutnil #22 kolkicin #23 nsc next 757 #24 tolchicine #25 #1 or #2 or #3 or #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8 or #9 or #10 or #11 or #12 or #13 or #14 or #15 or #16 or #17 or #18 or #19 or #20 or #21 or #22 or #23 or #24 Limit to CENTRAL/Trials

Appendix 3. Embase (Elsevier) search strategy

colchicine/exp
colcemid*:ti,ab,kw



3. demecolcine:ti,ab,kw 4. colchamine:ti,ab,kw 5. lumicolchicine*:ti,ab,kw 6. gamma-lumicolchicine*:ti,ab,kw 7. beta-lumicolchicine:ti,ab,kw 8. colchicin*:ti,ab,kw 9. colchichine:ti,ab,kw 10. aqua colchin:ti,ab,kw 11. colchicum:ti,ab,kw 12. colchily:ti,ab,kw 13. colchimedio:ti,ab,kw 14. colchiquim:ti,ab,kw 15. colchisol:ti,ab,kw 16. colchysat:ti,ab,kw 17. colcine:ti,ab,kw 18. colcrys:ti,ab,kw 19. colgout:ti,ab,kw 20. goutichine:ti,ab,kw 21. goutnil:ti,ab,kw 22. kolkicin:ti,ab,kw 23. nsc 757:ti,ab,kw 24. tolchicine:ti,ab,kw 25. or/1-24 26. random*:ti,ab,kw 27. factorial*:ti,ab,kw 28. crossover*:ti,ab,kw 29. cross over*:ti,ab,kw 30. cross-over*:ti,ab,kw 31. placebo*:ti,ab,kw 32. (doubl* NEAR/3 blind*):ti,ab,kw 33. (singl* NEAR/3 blind*):ti,ab,kw 34. assign*:ti,ab,kw 35. allocat*:ti,ab,kw 36. volunteer*:ti,ab,kw 37. crossover procedure/exp 38. double blind procedure/exp 39. randomized controlled trial/exp 40. single blind procedure/exp 41. or/26-40 42. (animal/exp or nonhuman/exp) NOT human/exp 43. #41 NOT #42 44. 25 AND 43 45. limit 44 to embase: #44 AND [embase]/lim NOT ([embase]/lim AND [medline]/lim)

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Concept and design: Ebrahimi, Hemkens.

Drafting of the manuscript: Ebrahimi, Hirt, Hemkens.

Critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content: all authors.

Supervision: Hemkens.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

FE has served as advisory board member for Boehringer Ingelheim and received travel support from Gilead Sciences Inc.

JH declares having no conflicts of interest.

CS declares having no conflicts of interest.

HE declares having no conflicts of interest.



MB declares being an editor with Cochrane Heart, but without any involvement in the editorial process of this review, and receiving an unrestricted grant from Moderna for the evaluation of benefits and potential risks of a SARS-CoV-2 booster vaccination with bivalent booster m-RNA-1273.214 in immunocompromized patients from two Swiss national cohorts.

PJ declares having no conflicts of interest.

LGH declares having no conflicts of interest.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• University Hospital Basel/University of Basel, Switzerland

Working time of authors.

External sources

• NIHR, UK

This project was supported by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR), via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the Heart Group until 31 March 2023. The views and opinions expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Evidence Synthesis Programme, NIHR, National Health Service (NHS), or the Department of Health and Social Care.